III. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

I. 	 The Trial Court erred in granting Appellant relief pursuant to the clear and 
unambiguous mandate of West Virginia Code §62-12-10(2). 
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IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This is an appeal from the Order of the Cabell County Circuit Court entered 

June 8, 2017, revoking Appellant's probation and reinstating Appellant's original sentence to the 

penitentiary of this State. 

Or about November 7, 2016, Appellant was sentenced to not less than one (1) nor more 

than Five (5) years in the custody of the Commissioner of Corrections for conviction ofa charge 

of Child Abuse Causing Injury and not less than One (1) nor more than Fifteen (15) years for 

Delivery of Controlled Substance to Minor, said sentences to run consecutively to one another. 

The sentences were suspended, however, and Appellant was placed on probation for a period of 

three (3) years. As authorized by Statute for these offenses, Petitioner was also given Ten (10) 

years ofextended supervision. 

One or about May 22, 2017, Cabell County Adult Probation Office filed a "Petition to 

Revoke Probation ofthe Above Named Defendant." The Petition consisted of nine (9) separate 

counts (Paragraphs.) 

On or about June 22,2017, Appellant appeared for Final Probation Revocation Hearing 

before the Hon. Paul Farrell, Cabell County Circuit Court Judge. Appellant admitted to the 

allegations set forth in the "Petition to Revoke Probation." None of the alleged violations as 

outlined in the Probation Departments "Petition To Revoke Probation" disqualified Appellant 

from relief under West Virginia Code §62 - 12 - 10(2). 

Appellant moved the Court for a sixty (60) day jail "shocker" pursuant to West Virginia 

Code §62 - 12 - 10 (2). The Circuit Court Judge denied Appellant's Motion for 
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"shock probation" following sixty (60) days incarceration, and reinstated Appellants original 

sentence and committed Appellant to the custody of the Commissioner of Corrections. It is from 

the Order denying Appellant relief under West Virginia Code §62 - 12 - 10 (2) that Appellant 

now appeals. 
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V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 


Appellant will argue that the Circuit Court ignored the clear and unambiguous mandates 

of West Virginia Code §62-12-10(2) ,and that absent written findings of fact by the Circuit 

Court supporting the basis for departing from the Statute, the Court was required to impose a 

period of confinement of up to sixty (60) days rather than reinstating Appellant's original 

sentence. 

Page 7 of 15 



VI. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT 

Petitioner believes that Oral argument is unnecessary for reasons set out in Rules of 

Appellate Procedure 18(a)(4). 
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VII. ARGUMENT 


1. 	 The Trial Court erred in failing to grant Appellant relief pursuant to the clear and 
unambiguous mandate of West Virginia Code §62-12-10(2). 

The facts of this case appear to Appellate to be one of first impression. There is abundant 

case law citing 62-12-10(2), most of which addresses the retroactive or prospective application of 

the current version of the statute. Inasmuch as Appellant's offense occurred in 2016, the current 

(2013) version of the statute is clearly applicable to this case. 

On May 22,2017, the Cabell County Probation Department filed a "Petition to Revoke 

Probation of the Defendant." The Petition consisted of nine counts (paragraphs). The First 

paragraph labeled Roman Numeral I, was simply a statement outlining Appellant's sentence and 

suspension of that Sentence. Roman Numerals II, III, IV allege violations of probation by failing 

to pay supervision fees. Roman Numeral V alleges a violation for failing to "truthfully answer 

questions asked by your probation officer." Roman Numeral VI alleges a violation of probation 

for "Possession of a Controlled Substance." Roman Numeral VII alleges a violation of Probation 

for failing to pay for "drug screens". Roman Numeral VIII alleges a violation of probation for 

failing to participate in counseling or treatment as instructed by the probation officer." 

Roman Number IX is simply the probation officers "prayer" for relief. 

West Virginia Code §62-12-1O(l) authorizes the Circuit Court Judge to impose a 

sentence or order that a sentence be executed where the Judge finds that the Probationer violated 

any of the terms or conditions outlined in §§62-12-10(l)(A), which is absconding supervision; 

§(l)(B) which is engaging in new criminal conduct, or §(I)C) which is violating a special 

condition ofprobation designed to protect the public or a victim. None of the violations in 
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Probation's Petition to Revoke Defendant's Probation herein fall into any of those categories. 

Furthermore, sanctions for violations of §62-12-1O(1) are permissive sanctions rather than 

mandatory in that for violation of this section, the "Court or Judge may revoke the suspension of 

imposition or execution of sentence, impose sentence if none has been imposed and order that 

sentence be executed." 

West Virginia Code §62-12-1O(2) however, requires mandatory relief: 

.. .Ifthe judge finds that reasonable cause exists to believe that the probationer 
violated any condition of supervision other than the conditions of probation set 
forth in subdivision (l), for the first violation, the Judge shall impose a period of 
confinement up to 60 days or, for the second violation, a period of confinement up 
to 120 days .... 

62-12-10(2) was likely promulgated to "to get the attention" or "redirect" an errant 

probationer for a minor violation of the terms and conditions of probation. Otherwise, there 

would be no need for the two distinct subsections in section 62-12-10. 

The violations listed in the Petition to revoke Appellant's probation herein were the 

minor violations contemplated in 62-12-10(2). The only violation of Appellant's probation that 

could be construed as more than a minor violation is Appellant testing positively for a controlled 

substance while on probation. Appellant argued that at most, Appellant could have been 

charged with the misdemeanor offense of "Simple Possession of a Controlled Substance." (Tr. 

Transcript- page 9) However, 62-12-10(1 )(8) specifically excludes "Simple Possession of a 

Controlled Substance" as a violation of probation that would require re-instating probationer's 

original sentence: 

"If the court or judge finds reasonable cause exists to believe that the probationer 
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(A) Absconded supervision; 

(B) Engaged in new criminal conduct other than a minor traffic violation or 

simple possession of a controlled substance; or 

© Violated a special condition of probation designed either to protect the public 

or a victim; the court or judge may revoke the suspension of imposition or 

execution of sentence, impose sentence if none has been imposed and order that 

sentence be executed. West Virginia Code §62-12-10(1). 

The Defendant admitted, at the revocation hearing on June 2, 2017, that on May 7, 2017, 

she consumed a morphine pill and tested positive for that drug on May 9, 2017. At Appellant's 

revocation hearing the State, for the first time, alleged that Appellant had to be resuscitated by 

CPR following the ingestion of that morphine pill on May 7,2017, however, neither Appellant 

nor the Court had knowledge of that allegation prior to the revocation hearing on May 7. (Tr. 

Transcript pg. 8). The Appellant denied that she had to be resuscitated during that event and the 

State offered no proof to substantiate that allegation. The State further alleged that Appellant's 

children were present during that incident and the mere fact that Appellant's children were 

present, violated a special condition of probation as contemplated in 62-12-10(2)© of the Statute. 

A careful reading ofAppellant's "Order of Terms and Conditions of Probation", however will 

confirm that there were no Special Terms and Conditions of (Appellant's) Probation. 

West Virginia Code 62-12-10(2) mandates, however, that the Circuit Court incarcerate a 

probation violator for the period of time outlined in the statute for any violations that are listed 

in, or exceptions to §62-12-1O(1). The only exception to this mandate is if "the Circuit Judge 

makes written findings of fact supporting the basis for departure from the statute", and there were 
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such findings made by the Court in this case. 

This Court has long held that "when a statute is clear and unambiguous and the legislative 

intent is plain, the statute should not be interpreted by the Courts and in such cases, it is the duty 

of the courts not to construe but to apply the Statute." Syllabus Point 1, State ex reo Fox v. Board 

ofTrustees ofthe Policemen's Pension or ReliefFund, 148 W.Va. 369, 135 S.E.2d 262. 

"Ambiguity is a term connoting doubtfulness, doubleness of meaning of indistinctness or 
uncertainty of an expression used in a written instrument. It has been declared that courts 
may not fmd ambiguity in statutory language which laymen are readily able to 
comprehend" Crockettv. Andrews, 153 W.Va. 714 at 719,172 S.E.2d 384 (1970). 

In further emphasizing this principle, the Court has consistently held that "courts must 

presume that a legislature says in a statute what it means and means in a statute what it says 

there." State ofWest Virginia ex rei. Barrett v. Dalby 779 S.E.2d 584,587 (2015), Martin v. 

Randolph County Board ofEducation, 195 W.Va. 297,312,465 S.E.2d 399, 414 (1995). 

The Statute that Appellant relies upon is free from ambiguity. This was the first violation 

of Appellant's probation for the captioned convictions. §62-12-10(2) clearly mandates that the 

Circuit Court sentence the Appellant up to sixty (60) days in jail for the first violation of 

probation when the violations are of the type contemplated in §62-12-10(2). 
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VIII. CONCLUSION 

This was an emotionally charged case and feelings ran deeply on all sides. Appellant 

admitted to the offenses for which she was charged and demonstrated sincere remorse for her 

actions. Because Appellant lacked a criminal record and proved to the Court, at the time ofher 

sentencing, that she could conform her conduct to the requirements of society, her sentence was 

suspended and she was place on probation. 

Appellant unfortunately, violated certain terms and conditions of probation. The 

violations, however, were minor violations. The legislature, recognizing that all probation 

violations are not the sanle, carved out specific treatment for first time probation violators whose 

violations are considered minor violations. West Virginia Code §62-12-1 0(2) was promulgated 

for that purpose. 

Appellant's probation violations are firmly within the parameters of62-12-1 0(2). There 

were no special terms and conditions of probation required of Appellant and there were no 

allegations of any probation violations that mandate re-imposition of an original sentence. 

WHEREFORE, APPELLANT prays that this Court reverse the ruling of the Circuit Court 

of Cabell County re-imposing Appellant's original sentence; that Appellant be reinstated to 

probation following the serving of up to sixty (60) days incarceration; and for such other, further 

and general relief as to this Honorable Court seems just and proper.