ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 


The Petitioner raises one assignment of error: 

The trial court erred in [not] granting Appellant relief pursuant to the clear and 
unambiguous mandate of West Virginia Code, § 62-12-10(2). 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The grand jury of Cabell County returned an indictment against the Petitioner and a co

defendant. A.R. 1-4. The indictment charged the Petitioner with twelve felony counts: six counts 

(Counts 1 through 6) of Child Abuse Creating a Risk of Injury by providing heroin to her sixteen 

year old daughter, K.W., and allowing her to ingest it and six counts (Counts 7 through 12) of 

Delivery ofa Controlled Substance by providing the heroin to K.W. A.R. 1-3. The Petitioner pled 

guilty to Counts I and VII of the indictment. A.R. 5.1 

lCount I of the indictment charged: 

That on or before the 1st day of June, 2015 and the 31st day of December, 2015, in the 
County of Cabell, State of West Virginia, MICHELLE ANN KITCHEN committed the 
offense of "CHILD ABUSE CREATING A RISK OF INJURY" by unlawfully and 
feloniously abusing the minor child, KW., DOB: ..., then 16 years, to wit: by providing 
heroin, a Schedule I controlled substance, and by allowing KW. to ingest the heroin, and 
by the abuse creates a substantial risk of death or serious bodily injury to KW., when the 
said Michelle Ann Kitchen, was the parent, guardian: or custodian of K.W., against the 
peace and dignity of the State. 

A.R. 1. Count VII of the indictment provided: 

That on or between the 1st day of June, 2015 and the 21st day of December, 2015, in the 
County of Cabell, State of West Virginia, MICHELLE ANN KITCHEN committed the 
offense of "DELIVERY OF A CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE" by unlawfully, 
feloniously, knowingly and intentionally delivering a narcotic controlled substance, to-wit: 
heroin a Schedule I controlled substance, to K.W., a minor child, against the peace and 
dignity ofthe State. 

A.R. 2. 




The Petitioner was sentenced to a period of one to five years on Count I of the indictment 

and a period of one to fifteen years on Count VII of the indictment. See A.R. 16; A.R. 19 at 4.2 

The circuit court suspended the sentence and imposed three years of probation with ten years of 

extended supervision. See A.R. 12. The terms of probation required, inter alia, that the Petitioner 

pay certain fees and that she not have, use, or buy any drugs without a doctor's prescription, or be 

around anyone illegally using or selling drugs, or be at any place where controlled substances are 

illegally kept, used, sold, or distributed. See A.R. 13. 

A probation revocation petition was filed alleging the Petitioner violated seven terms of 

her probation. A.R. 12-15. Specifically, the probation revocation petition alleged that the 

Petitioner: (1) failed to pay her $5.00 monthly supervision fee for at least three months; (2) failed 

to pay her $5.00 monthly community corrections fee for three months; (3) failed to pay her $10.00 

per month cost ofprosecution fee for at least four months; (4) failed to truthfully answer questions 

posed to her by her probation officer in that she falsely reported on her monthly report form that 

she had abstained from using controlled, non-prescription substances when she tested positive for 

morphine on a drug screen administered on May 9,2017; (5) admitted to using heroin on or about 

May 7, 2017; (6) failed to pay for six ofher drug tests; and, (7) failed to attend outpatient individual 

therapy as suggested by her Prestera Center Treatment Team. A.R. 12-14. 

At the probation revocation hearing, the Petitioner admitted to the violations. Resp't Ex. 

19 at 4. Specifically the Petitioner admitted that she failed to pay the requisite fines, A.R. 19 at 5, 

2The Petitioner listed the probation revocation transcripts as page 19 of the Appendix Record but 
does not then individually number the transcript. The Respondent will cite the probation revocation 
hearing transcript as "A.R. 19 at _" with the blank representing the page as it is originally 
numbered in the revocation transcript. 
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and she also admitted to using heroin. AR. 19 at 5, 7. Accordingly, the circuit court found the 

Petitioner violated the terms of her probation. AR. 19 at 8. 

The Petitioner's counsel then argued to the circuit court that "I think the issue here today, 

Judge, really isn't so much the revocation as it is the disposition. I think the mandatory language 

of [West Virginia Code §] 62-12-10-2 mandates that she get relief under the statute which would 

be a 60 day jail sentence." AR. 19 at 8.3 The Petitioner's counsel continued, "[n]one of the 

violations in the petition disqualify her for relief under 62-12-10. I mean, there must have been a 

reason, that the legislature drafted the statute the way they did, Judge, to carve out an exception 

for traffic offenses and simple possession." AR. 19 at 8-9. The following exchange occurred: 

THE COURT: Let me stop you there. You consider this simple possession? 

MR. NAVY: I do. 

THE COURT: You don't consider this a new crime, the fact that she's obtained 
heroin and used it? 

MR. NAVY: It is a new crime but it's a crime of simple possession, that would be 

my position, Judge. 


THE COURT: Okay. 


AR. 19 at 8-9. 

The Court then asked the Petitioner's counsel, "Do you think being under the influence of 

heroin presents a danger to the public?" AR. 19 at 9, to which the Petitioner's counsel was forced 

to concede, "It may, yes, sure." AR. 19 at 9-10. The circuit court then inquired, "[w]ould that not 

then fit under C where it says violates a special condition of probation, which I think not using 

drugs would be designated either to protect the public or a victim?" A.R. 19 at 10. The Petitioner's 

counsel then argued: 

3The text of West Virginia Code § 62-12-10 is located in the argument section of this brief. 
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I think a special condition means a special condition that is peculiar to this case, 
something that is carved out specifically for this particular probationer, and I just 
don't think that's the case. I mean, I think you may be able to stretch it into that, 
but I don't think the plain reading of the violations you can get there with that I 
think special condition meant special condition, something that the probation 
department carved out specifically for this person and this person's situation, and I 
didn't see that at all in terms and conditions. Now, it may be a loophole, but I think 
it is what it is. 

A.R. 19 at 10. The State responded: 

It's not just the betrayal oftrust to this Court, it's the betrayal of trust we all 
placed in her when we allowed her children to be returned to her. And she's just 
told you that her daughter was present at the event in April. Her children were both 
in the house, they were aware that she and her new husband were locking 
themselves in the bathroom. This is not a onetime event, in my opinion, and even 
if it is it's an ultimate betrayal of the trust these children put in their mother and the 
trust this court put in this woman. 

A.R. 19 at 12. 

The circuit court rejected the Petitioner's claim that the matter presented a claim of simple 

possession, finding "that her use of heroin does create a danger to the public and to her children 

and others, and that is a serious violation of the tenns and conditions of her probation, and at this 

time I'm going to impose the original sentence on her." A.R. 19 at 13. The circuit court entered a 

final probation revocation order June 8, 2017 imposing the original sentence on the Petitioner. 

A.R. 16-17. This appeal followed. 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

West Virginia Code § 62-12-10 provides that if a person is on probation and violates the 

tenns of his or her probation for the first time, the circuit court can only impose a sixty day jail 

sentence unless the court also finds that reasonable cause to believe the probationer, inter alia, 

engaged in new criminal conduct (other than a minor traffic violation or simple possession of a 

controlled substance), or violated a special condition of probation designed either to protect the 

public ora victim. The circuit court in this case found that the Petitioner's illegal use ofa controlled 
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substance constituted new, serious criminal conduct beyond simple possession and that the 

Petitioner's use of heroin violated a special term of probation, that the Petitioner not have drugs. 

The circuit court correctly rule that the Petitioner's illegal use of a controlled substance was 

something more than simple possession because it hazarded the health and well-being of the 

Petitioner's children, one of whom was the victim of the Petitioner's original crimes. The 

prohibition on the use of illegal drugs was, under the facts ofthis case, more than simple possession 

and constituted a special term of probation to protect K.W., the Petitioner's daughter to whom the 

Petitioner admitted giving heroin. As such, the circuit court did not err in revoking probation and 

.. ,
nnposmg sentence. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

The State agrees with the Petitioner that oral argument is unnecessary in this case. This 

case is suitable for memorandum decision. 

ARGUMENT 

This Court has observed that "[w]e apply a three-pronged standard of review in reviewing 

probation revocation decisions: 'We review the decision on the probation revocation motion under 

an abuse of discretion standard; the underlying facts are reviewed under a clearly erroneous 

standard; and questions of law and interpretations of statutes and rules are subject to a de novo 

revi<?w.'" State v. Pierce, No. 16-1034, 2017 W. Va. LEXIS 813, at *4 (Oct. 23, 2007) 

(memorandum decision) (quoting Syl. Pt. 1, in part, State v. Duke, 200 W.Va. 356,489 S.E.2d 738 

(1997». 

At issue in this case are the provisions of West Virginia Code § 62-12-10, which provides: 

(a) If at any time during the period of probation there shall be reasonable cause to 
believe that the probationer has violated any of the conditions of his or her 
probation, the probation officer may arrest him or her with or without an order or 
warrant, or the court which placed him or her on probation, or the judge thereof in 
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vacation, may issue an order for his or her arrest, whereupon he or she shall be 
brought before the court, or the judge thereof in vacation, for a prompt and 
summary hearing. 

(1) If the court or judge fInds reasonable cause exists to believe that the 
probationer: 

(A) Absconded supervision; 

(B) Engaged in new criminal conduct other than a minor traffic 
violation or simple possession of a controlled substance; or 

(C) Violated a special condition of probation designed either to 
protect the public or a victim; the court or judge may revoke the 
suspension of imposition or execution of sentence, impose sentence 
if none has been imposed and order that sentence be executed. 

(2) If the judge finds that reasonable cause exists to believe that the 
probationer violated any condition of supervision other than the conditions of 
probation set forth in subdivision (1) of this subsection then, for the fIrst violation, 
the judge shall impose a period of confmement up to sixty days or, for the second 
violation, a period of confInement up to one hundred twenty days. For the third 
violation, the judge may revoke the suspension of imposition or execution of 
sentence, impose sentence if none has been imposed and order that sentence be 
executed, with credit for time spent in confInement under this section. 

(3) In computing the period for which the offender is to be confIned, the 
time between his or her release on probation and his or her arrest may not be taken 
to be any part of the term of his or her sentence. 

(b) A probationer confined for a first or second violation pursuant to subdivision 
(2), subsection (a) of this section may be confIned injail, and the costs of confIning 
felony probationers shall be paid out of funds appropriated for the Division of 
Corrections. Whenever the court orders the incarceration of a probationer pursuant 
to the provisions of subdivision (2), subsection (a) of this section, a circuit clerk 
shall provide a copy of the order of confInement within five days to the 
Commissioner of Corrections. 

(c) If, despite a violation of the conditions ofprobation, the court or judge is ofthe 
opinion that the interests ofjustice do not require that the probationer serve his or 
her sentence or a period of confInement, the judge may, except when the violation 
was the commission of a felony, again release him or her on probation: Provided, 
That a judge may otherwise depart from the sentence limitations set forth in 
subdivision (2), subsection (a) ofthis section upon making specific written fmdings 
of fact supporting the basis for the departure. 
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"As with any matter involving the interpretation and application of statutes, we first must 

determine the Legislature's intent in promulgating the statutory law at issue[,]" State ex reI. Tucker 

County Solid Waste Auth. v. W. Va. Div. ofLabor, 222 W. Va. 588, 595, 668 S.E.2d 217, 224 

(2008), because "'[t]he primary object in construing a statute is to ascertain and give effect to the 

intent of the Legislature.'" Id., 668 S.E.2d at 224 (quoting Syl. Pt. 1, Smith v. State Work. Comp. 

Comm'r, 159 W. Va. 108,219 S.E.2d 361 (1975». Legislative intent is generally gleaned from the 

statute's language so that, "[o]rdinarily, when this Court interprets an act of the Legislature, [it] 

givers] the statutory language effect when its meaning is plain." Am. Tower Corp. v. Common 

Council, 210 W. Va. 345, 349, 557 S.E.2d 752, 756 (2001). Here, the language of the statute 

supports the circuit court's determination to revoke probation and impose sentence, because the 

purpose of the statute is to protect the public and the victim of the Petitioner's offenses, to wit, 

K.W., her sixteen year old daughteL 

In this case, the circuit court correctly found that the Petitioner's illegal drug use was a 

violation of a special condition of probation designed to protect the public or a victim in light of 

the facts of this case. The Petitioner was prohibited from using illegal drugs as a condition of her 

probation, yet she admitted to using heroin. A.R. 19 at 5, 7. As the circuit court specifically 

concluded from the bench, "I find that [the Petitioner'S] use of heroin does create a danger to the 

public[.]"). A.R 19 at 13,4 a finding in line with other jurisdictions that have recognized heroin's 

inherent dangers. Minn. Fire & Cas. Co. v. Greenfield, 805 A.2d 622, 630 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2002) 

("Other jurisdictions recognize the inherent danger of heroin."), aff'd on other grounds, 855 A.2d 

4The Petitioner's trial counsel admitted being under the influence ofheroin presents a danger to the public. 
A.R. 19 at 9-10 ("THE COURT: Do you think being under the influence of heroin presents a danger to the 
public? MR. NAVY: It may, yes, sure."). Such a concession was well taken for "in this day and age, 
everyone realizes the dangers of heroin use." Minn. Fire & Cas. Co. v. Greenfield, 805 A.2d 622, 624 (pa. 
Super. Ct. 2002), aff'd on other grounds, 855 A.2d 854 (Pa. 2004). 
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854 (pa. 2004). See, e.g., State v. Williams, 224 So. 3d 1194, 1198 (La. Ct. App. 2017) ("It is 

difficult to overstate the serious nature of any crime involving heroin given the danger the 

substance presently poses to public health."); Commonwealth v. Perry, 607 N~E.2d 434, 436 

(Mass. Ct. App. 1993) (noting the "inherently dangerous nature of heroin"). "The current heroin 

and opioid epidemic is carving a path of pain and suffering that cuts across race, socioeconomic 

status, and age and afflicts everyone in our community." United States v. Wilmore, 2: 16-cr-00177, 

2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 166928, at *21 (S. D. W. Va. Oct. 10, 2017)~ In short, "[t]he heroin and 

opioid epidemic is one of the great public health problems of our time." United States v. Walker, 

Case No. 2:17-cr-00010, 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 98233, at *11 (S. D. W. Va. June 26,2017). The 

circuit court did not err in fmding the Petitioner's consumption of heroin amounted to more than 

"simple possession" and in fmding that it posed a danger to the public. 

Moreover, the victim of the underlying crime in the Petitioner's case was the Petitioner's 

sixteen year old daughter K.W, to whom the Petitioner provided heroin allowing K.W. to ingest 

it. A.R. 1. The Petitioner's misconduct in giving her daughter heroin constituted a direct and 

immediate threat to K.W.'s health and safety. See, e.g., People v. Almodovar, 235 Cal. Rptr. 616, 

623 (Ct. App. 1987) ("the recipients of heroin are endangered by its use"). The circuit court made 

a specific finding from the bench that the Petitioner's use ofheroin created a danger to her children. 

A.R. 19 at 13 ("THE COURT: I find that her use of heroin does create a danger ... to her 

children[.]"). Thus, aside from the Petitioner's inability to care for her children while under the 

influence of the heroin, the Petitioner's mere possession of heroin posed the risk that K.W. might 

again be able to gain access to the heroin that the Petitioner was using thus creating even further 

danger to K.W. In light ofthe facts of this case, the prohibition against drug use was a special term 
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of probation and the Petitioner's failure to abide by it warranted immediate execution of sentence 

when she violated it. 

The order of the circuit court revoking probation and imposing execution of sentence 

should be affirmed. 5 

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, the decision of the Circuit Court of Cabell County should be 

affirmed.